
    

2014-0902 Council Meeting Minutes 
- 1 - 

TOWN OF SOUTH PRAIRIE 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 

TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 2, 2014, 7:00 PM 
South Prairie Town Hall 

121 NW Washington Street 
 

The following is a condensation of the proceedings and is not a verbatim transcript. 

  
CALL TO ORDER: 
Mayor Tony Caldwell called to order and presided over the Regular Council Meeting of Tuesday, 
September 2, 2014, at 7:00 PM. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
Council Members:   Stu Terry, Roy Hanson, Vicky Watkins and Barb Wigton were present. 
Also in attendance:  Neel Parikh, Pierce County Library Executive Director; Mart Kask, Town Planner; 
James Morgan, Town Engineer; and Marla Nevill, Clerk-Treasurer. 

 
FLAG SALUTE: 
Mayor Tony Caldwell requested everyone stand for the “Pledge of Allegiance.” 
 
REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF AGENDA FOR SEPTEMBER 2, 2014: 
� Councilor Stu Terry moved to approve the Agenda for September 2, 2014.   Councilor Roy 

Hanson seconded the motion.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
PRESENTATION BY NEEL PARIKH, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, PIERCE COUNTY 
LIBRARY SYSTEM: 
Neel Parikh, Executive Director, Pierce County Library System, gave a presentation regarding the 
State of the Library.  (See Exhibit “A” attached).  
     
ENGINEERING REPORT: 
Mayor Tony Caldwell asked the Town Clerk if she had heard from James Morgan, Town Engineer.  
Marla Nevill said she received an email stating that he would be arriving late, if he was able to make it to 
the meeting.  Mayor Tony Caldwell said we would postpone the Engineering Report until the arrival of 
the Town Engineer.   
 
PLANNER REPORT: 
Mart Kask, Town Planner said at the August meeting, we settled on a number for new residential units.  
He received a letter from James Morgan, Town Engineer, stating the number is 15-40 new residential 
sewer connections to the wastewater treatment plant.  He said according to the US Census for 2010, the 
number of persons per average household is 2.49.  The Office of Financial Management has the current 
population for South Prairie at 435.  He said those sewer connections would be handled on a first come 
first served basis.  They would have to pay for the connection and be put into use immediately to prevent 
speculation.  This would be put into our code.  He said the sewer connections should be absorbed by 
2020.    He said Pierce County passed an ordinance that would require South Prairie to add 109 housing 
units and meet a population of 750 by 2030.  He said we would write into our code that “we will make 
our best efforts.”  No one can dictate the number of people coming into your community.  You could tell 
Pierce County there is no way we can meet that number without expanding the wastewater treatment 
plant, which would mean increased costs to our customers to accommodate that many people.  He said 
there are very few grant funds available to expand or build a wastewater treatment plant.  What happens 
after 40 new residential homes are built; remains to be seen.  Mayor Tony Caldwell asked how that 
relates to the number of households.  Mart Kask said it would be 2.49 persons per household as 



    

2014-0902 Council Meeting Minutes 
- 2 - 

generated by the 2010 US Census.  He said the family size is decreasing.  Discussion followed.  Mart 
Kask said we are primarily dealing with single-family residential units.  Councilor Vicky Watkins said 
isn’t the RV Park considered transient housing.  Mart Kask said the RV Park has 180-day occupancy.  
They cannot move from one site to another; they have to vacate the premises.  That is one issue you have 
to take up when you revisit Resolution No. 151.  Discussion followed.  Mart Kask said the Comp Plan 
has 17 chapters.  He has to talk to the Mayor about what you want in the Capital Improvement Plan (CIP), 
Chapter 16.  There are certain things that have to be listed in the CIP.  He said Draft B covers all of the 
requirements from the State, Department of Commerce and the Pierce County Countywide Planning 
Policies.  He said the employment numbers also come into play.  We also have to meet the requirements 
from the Puget Sound Regional Council, for example Climate Change and Air Quality.  He said air 
quality deals with auto emissions.  We have to work towards complying with the County and State 
Planning regulations.  Discussion followed.  Mart Kask said if we want to build public facilities, we 
would have a much better chance of obtaining funding if your project is located near a Town Center.  He 
showed the Council and Mayor the revised zoning map.  Discussion followed.  Mart Kask said the Comp 
Plan Update has three parts.  He said the Development Regulations have not been changed for quite some 
time.  He said he started reviewing the old Development Regulations and tried to make sense of it; but it 
was a mess.  He asked research people if there were any models; and the Department of Commerce gave 
him a bunch, some with updates as new as 2013.  He said Part 3 is the Critical Areas Ordinance, which 
deals with earthquakes, aquifer recharge areas, wetlands, etc.  He said he doesn’t have a hard copy with 
him but he has it on the computer.  He said the only things changed in the Critical Areas Ordinance are 
those regulations pertaining to the Shoreline Master Program (SMP).  He said when the Town adopted the 
SMP, you wanted a 50’ (fifty foot) buffer zone; but the Washington Department of Ecology (WDOE) 
came back and said we needed a 100’ (one hundred foot) buffer zone.  He said this is a work in progress.  
Councilor Barb Wigton said if you have a 50’ x 100’ (fifty feet by hundred feet) lot, the whole lot is 
gone.  Mart Kask said that is going to be covered in one section in the report to WDOE.  He said his 
argument would be based on the law.  There are other communities that have been able to go to a 25’, 35’ 
and 50’ buffer zones.  He said WDOE is inconsistent.  Discussion followed.  Mart Kask said when 
WDOE met with the Town, they were asked by a Council Member how someone would go about getting 
permission to build in the buffer zone and were told they would have to apply for a variance.  That 
Council Member then asked WDOE how many variances do they receive and how many are granted.  He 
said WDOE responded by saying they received approximately 200 applications and two-three variances 
were granted.  Discussion followed.  Mart Kask asked the Mayor and Council how they would like to 
receive copies of the documents.  Mayor Tony Caldwell requested two hard copies and the documents 
emailed to the Town.             
 
ENGINEERING REPORT: 
James Morgan, Town Engineer, said we finished the document for the Washington Survey and Rating 
Bureau.  His part is finished.  He said he completed as much as he could.  Discussion followed. 
 
James Morgan said he finished a Right-of-Way (ROW) permit for a property located on Cascade 
Avenue.  Discussion followed. 
 
James Morgan said the estimate for new sewer connections to the Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP) 
is 20-40 new single-family residential houses.  Councilor Stu Terry said the WWTP permit numbers 
were based on in-flow.  James Morgan said the in-flow is really a guestimate but the permit is based on 
in-flow and out-flow.  He said when it was designed; it was based on how much the plant could treat.  He 
said we have to look at both in-flow and out-flow.  Discussion followed.  Councilor Barb Wigton said 
those people that have holding tanks have to be figured into the calculations.  James Morgan said the 
terms have to be defined.  Discussion followed.      
 
 



    

2014-0902 Council Meeting Minutes 
- 3 - 

APPROVAL OF REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES OF AUGUST 5, 2014: 
� Councilor Roy Hanson moved to approve the Regular Council Meeting Minutes of August 5, 2014.  

Councilor Stu Terry seconded the motion.  Councilor Vicky Watkins requested a correction on 
Page 2, third paragraph, change “Mayo” to “Mayor.”  Councilor Roy Hanson moved to amend his 
motion to approve the Regular Council Meeting Minutes of August 5, 2014, as corrected.  Councilor 
Stu Terry seconded the amended motion.  Motion carried unanimously. 

 
APPROVAL OF BILLS FOR AUGUST 2014 IN THE AMOUNT OF $27,540.68: 
� Councilor Stu Terry moved to approve the Bills for August 2014 in the amount of $27,540.68 

(twenty-seven thousand five hundred forty dollars and sixty-eight cents).  Councilor Barb Wigton 
seconded the motion.  Several questions were asked and answered regarding several of the bills.  
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
CITIZENS’ COMMENTS: 
None     
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 
None 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
1)   Interlocal Agreement – Amendments to the Pierce County Countywide Planning Policies: 
(Review by Town Council and authorization to send the agreement to the Town Attorney, Town 
Planner and Insurance for review and approval): 
� Councilor Barb Wigton moved to authorize the Interlocal Agreement – Amendments to the Pierce 

County Countywide Planning Policies be forwarded to the Town Attorney, Town Planner and 
Insurance for review and approval and this issue be revisited by the Town Council at the October 7, 
2014 Council Meeting.  Councilor Stu Terry seconded the motion.  Motion carried unanimously 

 
2) Colorscapes Horticultural Services Contract Proposal: 
(Review by Town Council and authorization to send the agreement to the Town Attorney and 
Insurance for review and approval): 
� Councilor Barb Wigton moved to authorize the Colorscapes Horticultural Services Contract 

Proposal be forwarded to the Town Attorney and Insurance for review and approval and this issue be 
revisited by the Town Council at the October 7, 2014 Council Meeting.  Councilor Stu Terry 
seconded the motion.  Motion carried unanimously.  Discussion followed.  Council requested bids 
from other landscaping companies for these services as well.  

 
3) Colorscapes 2015 Budget Consideration for New Bark at the Community Center and Town Hall: 
Council requested additional bids for these materials and services.  Councilor Stu Terry asked where 
would they put ten yards of bark?  Councilor Vicky Watkins said we could probably get a crew to put 
down the new bark.  Councilor Barb Wigton asked Tony if he had contacted the Department of 
Corrections for community service workers.  Mayor Tony Caldwell said he contacted them and the City 
of Bonney Lake; and they failed to respond.  Discussion followed. 
� Councilor Stu Terry moved to obtain additional bids for new bark at the Community Center and 

Town Hall and landscaping services.  Councilor Roy Hanson seconded the motion.  Motion carried 
unanimously. 

 
4) Council Member, Position No. 3 Vacancy – Received One Letter of Interest: 
Council requested that the person be contacted and invited to the next Council meeting for an interview.  
Discussion followed. 
 



    

2014-0902 Council Meeting Minutes 
- 4 - 

5) Authorize Mayor to Sign the Employment Contract with Kirk Elliott for Water and Wastewater 
Plant Manager Services After Approval by the Town Attorney and Insurance: 
Mayor Tony Caldwell said we interviewed Kirk Elliott; and there were two Council Members, a staff 
member and Rick Sellers on the interview committee.  He said everyone on the committee was in 
agreement to hire Kirk Elliott.  Mayor Tony Caldwell said Kirk Elliott started work yesterday; and Rick, 
Jason and Todd came down and briefed him on the plant operations.    
� Councilor Barb Wigton moved to authorize the Mayor to sign the Employment Contract with Kirk 

Elliott for Water and Wastewater Plant Manager Services after approval by the Town Attorney and 
Insurance.  Councilor Stu Terry seconded the motion.  Motion carried unanimously. 

 
Mayor Tony Caldwell said Kirk Elliott has signed documents so he would be allowed to send in 
documentation to the State agencies.  He said we will probably have issues with the Union; but he had to 
do what he had to do.  Discussion followed.  Mayor Tony Caldwell said Kirk is going to schedule his 
test to get certified for the water.  He has given up one of his jobs in order to focus on South Prairie.  His 
work schedule will be Sunday through Thursday and he would be off on Friday and Saturday.  He said 
Kirk would be on call.  Mayor Tony Caldwell said he would be considered strictly a contracted 
employee.  The contracted amount would be $2,700 per month for full coverage, but he has no set hours.  
Discussion followed.       
 

MAYOR’S REPORT: 
1)  Summary of Efforts to Find a Replacement for Utility Operator:   
Mayor Tony Caldwell said we received seven applications:  1) One applicant was interested in the 
position; but did not pass the interview panel (Vicky, Stu, Judy, Rick and Tony); 2) One applicant lived in 
Michigan and did not want to move out here.  He did not have the proper certifications; 3) One applicant 
turned us down after further review and did not even submit an application; 4) We received a proposal for 
contracted employment from a team; but they wanted $5,700 a month and extra charges for compiling 
reports to the State, etc. 5) One applicant was an Operator in Training for the wastewater treatment plant 
but no other certifications; 6) We interviewed another team; with one-half of the team being Kirk Elliott.  
We hired Kirk under an Employment Contract.  Kirk will most likely use that other person as a backup; 
and 7) one applicant was interested and she was contacted by phone; but she did not have the proper 
certifications.  Mayor Tony Caldwell said we have advertised the job opening; and it was posted at 
Green River Community College and on the AWC JobNet website.  He said Department of Health and 
the Department of Ecology will allow him (Tony) to go in the direction he is going.  He said DOH and 
DOE are working with us.  He said the Department of Health will allow Kirk to get a temporary license 
and would allow him one year to get his certifications for the Water.  He said we are in violation with the 
Union contract; but he had to do what he had to do, since our temporary operators were done as of 
September 1, 2014 and we had to have an operator named for the Water System.  Councilor Barb 
Wigton told Tony he is not going to Seattle to meet with the Union.   She said we gave Tony the go 
ahead to contract out for this position.  She said the Union still has not come out and they have not 
provided a worker.  Mayor Tony Caldwell said we could have unfair labor practices filed against the 
Town.  Discussion followed.  
 
2) Replacement of Influent and Effluent Meters at the WWTP: 
Mayor Tony Caldwell said a Tech Rep would be out this Thursday to install new influent and effluent 
meters at the Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP).  He said right now we only have effluent readings.  
Discussion followed. 
 
3) Agreement with East Pierce Fire & Rescue (EPF&R): 
Councilor Barb Wigton asked where we were at with the fire and EMS agreement with East Pierce Fire 
& Rescue.  Mayor Tony Caldwell said we have not heard back from EPF&R.  He said they are looking 
to pass an O & M (Operation and Maintenance Levy) of $0.35 to $0.37 per $1,000 of assessed property 



    

2014-0902 Council Meeting Minutes 
- 5 - 

value.  Discussion followed.   Mayor Tony Caldwell said we forwarded them the proposal and now we 
are waiting to hear back from them. 
 
4) Meter Reading and Lawn Maintenance: 
Mayor Tony Caldwell said he hired someone to read the water meters and do lawn maintenance.  
Discussion followed.   
 
5) Cleanup at the WWTP: 
Mayor Tony Caldwell said he and Stu Terry took on the task of cleaning up the Wastewater Treatment 
Plant (WWTP).  Discussion followed.  Councilor Barb Wigton asked about the status of cleaning up the 
Water Treatment Plant.  Councilor Stu Terry said it would be the same situation.  We need to get a crew 
together to clean it up.  Discussion followed. 
 
PUBLIC WORKS’ REPORT: 
Mayor Tony Caldwell said he already covered a lot of the issues under the Mayor’s Report.            
 
CLERK’S REPORT: 
Marla Nevill reminded the Council of the following upcoming events: 
1) Field Trip to Learn about Invasive Knotweed – Wednesday, September 10, 2014, 2:00 – 4:00 PM at 
the South Prairie Creek Area 
2) Elected Officials Training through AWC – Monday, September 22, 2014, 6:30-8:30 PM, at the 
South Prairie Community Center. 
3) Pierce County Council Evening Meeting – Tuesday, September 16, 2014, 5:30 PM, at the South 
Prairie Community Center. 
4) A Short Course on Local Planning – Tuesday, September 16, 2014, 6:30 – 9:30 PM, Buckley City 
Fire Hall, 611 South Division Street, Buckley, Washington  
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS REPORT: 
1) Councilor Vicky Watkins asked why we don’t record all of the Council meetings.   Mayor Tony 
Caldwell said only public hearings are recorded.  Discussion followed. 
 
RECESS TO AWC ELECTED OFFICIALS TRAINING WORKSHOP AT SOUTH PRAIRIE 
COMMUNITY CENTER, MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 22, 2014, 6:30 – 8:30 PM: 
� At 9:30 PM, Councilor Barb Wigton moved to recess the Regular Council Meeting to September 

22, 2014, 6:30 – 8:30 PM, at the South Prairie Community Center.  Councilor Stu Terry seconded 
the motion.  Motion carried unanimously. 

 
 
 
 

Date Approved:  October 7, 2014 


